**FILED** 10-09-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

Filed 10-09-2023

#### No. 22AP1076

### IN THE Wisconsin Court of Appeals DISTRICT IV

ARTILLIS MITCHELL, Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

CHRIS S. BUESGEN AND KEVIN A. CARR, Respondents-Respondents,

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Susan M. Crawford, Presiding, Case No. 22CV1204

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

DOUGLAS M. RAINES 1059539 EMILY LOGAN STEDMAN 1095313 HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP 511 N. Broadway, Suite 1100 Milwaukee, WI 53202

Counsel to Appellant

Filed 10-09-2023

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### Introduction

Artillis Mitchell mailed to the Circuit Court a petition for writ of certiorari six days before the 45-day statutory deadline, but the Circuit Court dismissed Mitchell's petition as untimely because the Clerk of Court held his petition and refused to file it until after the 45-day period had elapsed. The Clerk did so because, in the Clerk's view, Mitchell's petition did not initially include all documentation related to his exhaustion of administrative remedies.

This Court should reverse for two reasons: (1) Mitchell's petition was timely; and (2) even if the petition were untimely, the statutory remedy in these circumstances is not dismissal, but denial of Mitchell's request for a fee waiver. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c).

The Clerk filed Mitchell's petition after the statutory deadline even though Mitchell timely placed his petition in the mail. Specifically, on April 26, 2022—six days before the 45-day deadline—Mitchell placed his petition in the mail for delivery to the Circuit Court. In addition, the previous day—April 25—Mitchell requested from the Stanley Correctional Institution ("SCI") a certified copy of his trust account statement, a document over which he had no control, but was necessary to include for the Circuit Court to rule on his request for a fee waiver. Under common-law tolling, the timing of Mitchell's request to SCI, combined with the timing of his mailing of the petition, tolled the 45-day deadline. Such tolling rendered his petition timely when the Clerk filed

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The forty-five day statutory time period was triggered on March 16, 2022. Forty-five days later was April 30, 2022. But, because April 30, 2022, fell on a Saturday, the deadline rolled to the following Monday, May 2, 2022. Wis. Stats. §§ 801.15(1)(b), 990.001(4)(c). Accordingly, the statutory window for Mitchell actually was 47 days.

Mitchell's petition on May 17, 2022, and the Circuit Court granted his request for fee waiver on the same date.

Even if tolling somehow does not apply, however, Mitchell's petition still was timely. This is so because, instead of filing Mitchell's petition upon receipt, the Clerk usurped the Circuit Court's authority by assessing the sufficiency of Mitchell's petition and holding it until after the deadline had passed. In contravention of statutes prescribing his/her authority, the Clerk declined to file Mitchell's petition because the Clerk—exercising a function reserved for the Circuit Court alone—determined Mitchell had not included all documents showing he had exhausted his administrative remedies. One day after receiving a letter from the Clerk to that effect, Mitchell mailed to the Clerk the requested documents. The Clerk finally filed Mitchell's petition on May 17, 2022—15 days after the 45-day deadline had passed (assuming, arguendo, tolling somehow does not apply).

The Circuit Court deemed Mitchell's petition untimely and, as a result, dismissed it. However, the statutory remedy in these circumstances is not dismissal, but denial of Mitchell's request for a fee waiver. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). Such remedy particularly should be applied where, as here, the perceived omission of certain exhaustion documents was a harmless omission because the documentation shows Mitchell in fact exhausted his administrative remedies before filing his petition for writ of certiorari.

#### Issue I.

Whether Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari was timely, when he both requested documents outside his control and mailed his petition to the Clerk of Court days before the 45-day statutory deadline, but the Clerk declined to file his petition until after the deadline, because the Clerk deemed his petition to be lacking certain documents

demonstrating Mitchell had exhausted his administrative remedies.

Answer by the Circuit Court: The Circuit Court answered "no" and ruled Mitchell's petition was untimely.

This Court should answer "yes."

#### Issue II.

If Mitchell's petition was not timely, whether dismissal was the appropriate remedy in these circumstances where Mitchell timely mailed his petition but the Clerk of Court did not file it upon receipt and, instead, filed the petition after the 45-day deadline because the Clerk believed Mitchell had initially omitted certain exhaustion documents, and Mitchell later mailed documents the Clerk requested that showed he had, in fact, exhausted his administrative remedies.

**Answer by the Circuit Court**: The Circuit Court answered "yes" and dismissed Mitchell's petition.

This Court should answer "no."

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary. The parties' briefs should fully present the issues and arguments.

The Court should publish its opinion in this case because the issue of timeliness of a petition for writ of certiorari when it is mailed within the 45-day statutory deadline but the Clerk files it after the deadline, as well as the remedy in such circumstances, are issues of statewide importance and satisfy the criteria for publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns whether a prisoner's petition for writ of certiorari was timely filed. A prisoner may seek a writ of certiorari related to prison or jail conditions if commenced within 45 days after the cause of action accrues. Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2).

Forty-one days after exhausting his administrative appeals of a prison disciplinary decision, Mitchell mailed a petition for writ of certiorari for filing. Mitchell included with his petition a request for fee waiver, which required him to include certain additional documents. Among the additional documents required to be filed if a prisoner requests a fee waiver is a certified copy of his or her trust account statement. But Mitchell did not possess a certified copy of that statement. He had to request that certified document from SCI, which he did seven days before the 45-day deadline. In these circumstances, common-law tolling applies, and Mitchell's 45-day deadline was tolled as of April 26, 2022, when he mailed his petition. State ex rel. Steldt v. McCaughtry, 2000 WI App 176, ¶ 17, 238 Wis. 2d 393, 617 N.W.2d 201; State ex rel. Walker v. McCaughtry, 2001 WI App 110, ¶ 16, 244 Wis. 2d 177, 629 N.W.2d 17. The 45-day

deadline remained tolled on May 17, 2022, when the Clerk filed his petition and the Circuit Court granted his request for fee waiver. *Id.* Accordingly, Mitchell's petition was timely.

However, even if the tolling rules of *Steldt* and *Walker* somehow do not apply, Mitchell's petition still was timely. This is so because the Dane County Clerk of Courts held the petition and refused to file it upon receipt. The Clerk did so because, in the Clerk's view, Mitchell's petition omitted certain documents showing he had exhausted his administrative remedies. Mitchell sent the additional documents to the Clerk of Courts one day after the Clerk informed him his petition required further documentation. By the time the Clerk received those documents and filed Mitchell's petition, however, the 45-day statutory time period had elapsed (if the original deadline was not tolled).

The Circuit Court dismissed Mitchell's petition as untimely.

Mitchell now appeals dismissal of his petition. Under Steldt and Walker, the 45-day deadline was tolled at the time the Clerk of Courts filed the petition on May 17, 2022. Moreover, Mitchell mailed his petition timely and its filing otherwise would have satisfied the 45-day statutory deadline under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2)—even absent tolling—had the Clerk not usurped the Circuit Court's authority. The statutes do not grant the Clerk authority to refuse to accept any paper for filing on the basis that the Clerk believes not all papers have been received. See Wis. Stat. § 59.40(2)(a). Rather, the determination of whether the required documents have been submitted with a petition belongs exclusively to the Circuit Court. State ex rel. Locklear v. Schwarz, 2001 WI App 74, ¶ 22, 242 Wis. 2d 327, 629 N.W.2d 30. The Clerk improperly held Mitchell's petition and filed it after the statutory deadline when he or she assumed the judicial role

Filed 10-09-2023

of determining whether Mitchell's petition included all documents pertaining to exhaustion of remedies. *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 59.40(2)(a).

In addition, the Clerk's error was compounded by the Circuit error ofimposing the staturorilyimpermissible remedy of dismissal. In these circumstances, the correct statutory remedy is denial of Mitchell's request for a fee waiver, not dismissal. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c).

This Court should reverse and remand with instructions that Mitchell's petition be deemed timely. Alternatively, if this Court concludes the petition was untimely, this Court should nevertheless reverse and remand with instructions that the remedy for untimeliness is denial of Mitchell's request for fee waiver.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari relates to his challenge of a prison disciplinary determination. In September 2021, Mitchell was issued an Adult Conduct Report for violating the Wisconsin Department of Corrections ("DOC") inmate conduct rules DOC 303.43, DOC 303.44, and DOC 303.60. (R.6, p. 2 of 29; Appx.006.) Following a hearing, Mitchell was deemed guilty of two of the violations. (Id., p. 3 of 29; Appx.007.)

Mitchell pursued every administrative remedy challenging the decision. He appealed the decision to Warden Chris S. Buesgen. (Id., p. 17 of 29; Appx.021.) Buesgen affirmed the disciplinary committee's decision. (Id., p. 20 of 29; Appx.024.) Mitchell then filed an Inmate Complaint with the Institution Complaint Examiner's Office challenging Buesgen's decision. (Id., p. 11 of 29; Appx.015.) The same day, the Examiner's Office recommended the complaint be dismissed. (Id., p. 9 of 29; Appx.013.) Mitchell appealed that recommendation to the Corrections Complaint Examiner.

Filed 10-09-2023

(Id., p. 13 of 29; Appx.017.) The Corrections Complaint Examiner recommended dismissal of the complaint. (Id., p. 29) of 29; Appx.033.) Finally, on March 16, 2022, the Secretary of the DOC dismissed the complaint. (Id., p. 10 of 29; Appx.014.)

The March 16, 2022, date of dismissal of Mitchell's administrative claim—which constituted a final administrative decision—triggered the 45-day statutory deadline within which to file a petition for writ of certiorari in the circuit court. Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2).

Under the 45-day statutory deadline, Mitchell had until May 2, 2022, to file a petition for certiorari review: The 45th day fell on Saturday, April 30, so the deadline rolled to the following Monday, May 2, giving Mitchell a 47-day window within which to timely file his petition. Wis. Stats. §§ 801.15(1)(b), 990.001(4)(c).

On April 25, 2022, Mitchell requested from SCI a certified copy of his trust account statement, which is a document required for a circuit court's assessment of a prisoner's request for fee waiver due to indigency. (R.8, p. 2 of 3; Appx.035.)

On April 26, 2022—41 days after the Secretary dismissed his complaint, and six days before the May 2, 2022, deadline—Mitchell mailed to the Dane County Circuit Court his petition for writ of certiorari of the Secretary's decision, along with the following other documents:

- A proposed writ of certiorari;
- A petition for fee waiver;
- An affidavit of indigency;
- An authorization to withhold money from his trust account;

A Department of Justice (DOJ) certification indicating that he had not had three or more dismissals under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(d); and

Filed 10-09-2023

Two exhaustion documents: the reviewing authority's decision and the Secretary's decision.

(*Id.*; see also R.11, p. 1 of 5; Appx.042.)

In his April 26, 2022 letter to the Clerk enclosing such documents. Mitchell informed the Clerk that he had requested a certified copy of his trust account statement, but that it "[might] arrive later then [sic] my filed certiorari and supporting document, due to the fact that it has to be sent out by the records office at Stanley Corr. Inst." (R.11, p. 3 of 5; Appx.044.)

On April 28, 2022, Stanley Correctional processed Mitchell's request for a certified copy of his trust account statement. (R.4, pp. 1-2 of 2; Appx.003-Appx.004.)

On May 4, 2022—two days after the 45-day statutory deadline had elapsed—Mitchell received a letter from Dane County Clerk of Courts, stating that, in the Clerk's view, Mitchell had not included all the necessary exhaustion documents in his April 26, 2022, mailing. (R.21, p. 2 of 8; Appx.050; R.22, p. 5 of 14; Appx.061.) The Clerk's letter also stated that, due to the perceived omission, the Clerk refused to file Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari. (R.22, p. 5 of 14; Appx.061.)

Mitchell responded immediately. On May 5, 2022, he mailed to the Clerk the requested documents showing he had exhausted his administrative remedies. (R.11, p. 4 of 5, Appx.045; R.22, p. 2 of 14; Appx.058.)

On May 17, 2022—fifteen days after the 45-day statutory deadline had elapsed—the Clerk filed Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari. (See R.6, p. 1 of 29; Appx.005 (stamped "FILED May 17 2022").) The same date, the

Circuit Court granted Mitchell's petition for a fee waiver. (See R.1, pp. 1-2 of 2; Appx.047-Appx.048.)

On May 20, 2022, the Circuit Court dismissed Mitchell's petition, reasoning that its filing on May 17, 2022, was untimely. (R.16, pp. 1-2 of 2; Appx.001-Appx.002 (stamped "FILED May 17 2022").)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal presents two issues: (1) whether Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari was filed timely; and (2) whether the Circuit Court's dismissal of Mitchell petition was proper in these circumstances.

These issues are ones of statutory interpretation. The first issue involves interpretation of Wis. Stats. §§ 893.735, 59.40(2) and (3), and the second issue involves interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). Issues of statutory interpretation are questions of law reviewed *de novo*. *Steldt*, 238 Wis. 2d 393, ¶ 11.

#### ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court improperly dismissed Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari. First, Mitchell's petition was timely: he mailed it to the Clerk six days before the 45-day deadline, and under these circumstances—in which Mitchell sought a fee waiver and had to request a certified copy of his trust account from SCI because Mitchell did not possess that document—the 45-day deadline was tolled at the time the Clerk filed Mitchell's petition on May 17, 2022. Even so, the Clerk usurped the Circuit Court's authority by holding Mitchell's petition instead of filing it upon receipt.

Second, even if Mitchell's petition somehow were deemed untimely, dismissal of his petition is not the appropriate remedy. Instead, in these circumstances—in which the Clerk refused to file Mitchell's petition before the 45-day deadline because the Clerk believed Mitchell initially omitted certain documents related to exhaustion of administrative remedies—the statutory remedy is denial of Mitchell's request for fee waiver. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). Denial of his request for fee waiver—or another remedy short of the drastic remedy of dismissal—is particularly appropriate where, as here, the petitioner, in fact, exhausted his administrative remedies before filing his petition for writ of certiorari.

# I. Mitchell timely submitted his petition for writ of certiorari.

The Circuit Court erred in finding Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari untimely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). Mitchell's petition was timely, and the Clerk usurped the Circuit Court's exclusive authority by holding Mitchell's petition until after the 45-day statutory deadline.

A. At the time Mitchell mailed his petition, the deadline was tolled due to Mitchell's request for documentation outside his control, and the deadline remained tolled at the time the Clerk filed the petition.

Wisconsin Stat. § 893.735 "governs the time within which a prisoner may begin an action challenging a governmental decision or disposition." *State ex rel. Johnson v. Litscher*, 2001 WI App 47, ¶ 5, 241 Wis. 2d 407, 625 N.W.2d 887. This statute instructs that "[a]n action seeking a remedy available by certiorari made on behalf of a prisoner is barred unless commenced within 45 days after the cause of action accrues." Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). Such action "is commenced at the time that the prisoner files a petition seeking a writ of certiorari with a court." Wis. Stat. § 893.735(3).

Filed 10-09-2023

The 45-day deadline may be equitably tolled in certain circumstances. Three rules of tolling, applied in conjunction with each other, render Mitchell's petition timely. These tolling rules pertain to: (a) the documents required when a prisoner seeks a fee waiver due to indigency, as Mitchell did here; (b) documents the prisoner has no control over and does not possess and, therefore, must request from prison authorities, as Mitchell did here; and (c) the time a circuit court takes to determine whether a prisoner is eligible for a fee waiver.

The first applicable tolling rule pertains to the documents required to be filed with a request for a fee waiver. Where, as here, a prisoner seeks to file a certiorari action without payment of ordinary filing fees due to indigency, the 45-day deadline is tolled upon the clerk's receipt of the following documents: the petition for writ of certiorari, the request for a fee waiver, the affidavit of indigency, and a certified copy of the prisoner's trust account statement. Steldt, 238 Wis. 2d 393, ¶ 17.

Here, on April 26, 2022, Mitchell sent to the Circuit Court all documents required for tolling under the *Steldt* tolling rule for fee-waiver requests, except one such document: a certified copy of his trust account statement. *Id*.: (R.8; Appx.034-Appx.036). But at that time Mitchell *did not have* a certified copy of his trust account statement. Rather, Mitchell had to request that document from SCI. As such, the previous day—April 25, 2022—Mitchell requested a certified copy of his trust account statement from SCI's business office. (Id.; R.11; Appx.042-Appx.046.)

SCI's control over the certified copy of Mitchell's trust account statement invokes the second applicable tolling rule: The 45-deadline is tolled "when the documents over which prisoners have control have been mailed, and all of the documents over which prisoners have no control have been

Filed 10-09-2023

requested." State ex rel. Walker v. McCaughtry, 2001 WI App 110, ¶ 16, 244 Wis. 2d 177, 629 N.W.2d 17 (emphasis added).

Thus, taken together, under the Steldt and Walker tolling rules, the 45-day deadline for Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari was tolled on April 26, 2022—six days prior to the May 2 deadline. This is because, as of April 26, 2022, Mitchell had mailed the documents in his control and had requested a certified copy of his trust account statement, which was a document outside his control. (R.8, p. 3 of 5; Appx.036; R.11, p. 3 of 5; Appx.044.) Moreover, in his letter to the Clerk of Court dated April 26, 2022, Mitchell specifically informed the Clerk that the certified copy of this trust account statement might "arrive later then [sic] my filed certiorari and supporting document, due to the fact that it has to be sent out by the records office at Stanley Corr. *Inst.*" (R.11, p. 3 of 5; Appx.044 (emphasis added).)

On April 28, 2022, SCI processed Mitchell's request for a certified copy of his trust account statement. (R:4, p. 1 of 2; Appx.004.) Thereafter, SCI sent the certified copy to the Circuit Court. The record does not reflect the date the Circuit Court then received that certified copy, but it is known that the Circuit Court, in fact, received that document from SCI because the docket reflects it was filed on May 17, 2022. (R.16; Appx.001-Appx.002.) The Circuit Court granted Mitchell's request for a fee waiver the same date. (R.1, pp. 1-2 of 2; Appx.047-Appx.048.)

In short, because SCI exclusively controlled the certified copy of Mitchell's trust account statement, Mitchell's request for that document on April 25, 2022, together with his mailing of his petition and accompanying documents the following day, tolled the 45-day deadline on April 26, 2022, under Steldt and Walker.

Filed 10-09-2023

Finally, the question of the duration of the tolling period and whether Mitchell's petition was timely filed invokes the third applicable tolling rule. The third applicable tolling rule is the following: When a prisoner requests a filing-fee waiver on the grounds of indigency, as Mitchell did here, the 45-day deadline is tolled during the time the circuit court takes to determine the prisoner's eligibility for a fee waiver. Steldt, 238 Wis. 2d 393, ¶ 17; Walker, 244 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 13.

Here, the Circuit Court granted Mitchell's request for a fee waiver on the same date the Clerk filed his petition for writ of certiorari—May 17, 2022. (R.16; Appx.001-Appx.002; R.1, pp. 1-2 of 2, Appx.047-Appx.048.) Because the three tolling rules addressed here applied and tolled Mitchell's 45day deadline from April 26 to May 17, when the Clerk filed his petition and the Circuit Court approved his petition for fee waiver, Mitchell's petition was timely.

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