ondent Filed 11-20-2023

Page 1 of 29

FILED 11-20-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP1076

ARTILLIS MITCHELL,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

CHRIS S. BUESGEN and KEVIN A. CARR,

Respondents-Respondents.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION
OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE SUSAN M. CRAWFORD, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS-RESPONDENTS

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARLA Z. KECKHAVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1028242

Attorneys for Respondents-Respondents

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

Equitable tolling is "typically available only if the claimant was prevented in some extraordinary way from exercising his or her rights." 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 155; see also Arellano v. McDonough, 143 S. Ct. 543, 547 (2023) (tolling applies when a litigant has pursued his rights but an extraordinary circumstance prevented him from timely filing). Mitchell faced no extraordinary circumstance beyond his control that prevented him from bringing a timely certiorari action. Nothing prevented him from submitting all his exhaustion documents with his initial mailing or requesting his trust account statement in enough time for the prison to process and mail it before his statutory deadline to commence his certiorari action. Allowing Mitchell the benefit of tolling on these facts would be to give him an advantage over all other litigants.

Mitchell's certiorari action was untimely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2), and the circuit court properly dismissed his petition for that reason.

## C. The clerk of court had no authority to file Mitchell's petition until the court granted the fee waiver.

Mitchell alternatively argues that "[e]ven if tolling somehow does not apply, [his] petition still was timely" because "the Clerk exceeded his or her statutory authority by holding his petition instead of filing it upon receipt." (Appellant's Br. 19.) That is incorrect. The clerk of court had no authority to file Mitchell's certiorari action upon receipt of his April 26, 2022, mailing, and filing would not have cured the defects in Mitchell's initial mailing anyway.

Mitchell misunderstands the statutory procedure for filing prisoner civil actions. The process has two steps.

The first step involves payment of the filing fee. Prisoners, like all litigants, must either pay the filing fee or be granted a fee waiver to commence a civil action. See Wis. Stat. § 801.02(6) ("Fees payable upon commencement of a civil action shall be paid to the clerk at the time of filing."): Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1m) (prisoner fee waiver); Shimkus I, 239 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 9 ("In Wisconsin, however, civil actions are not commenced until the applicable filing fee is paid . . . unless payment is waived by the court for cause shown."). When a prisoner seeks to commence an action without prepayment of the filing fee, he must file a fee waiver petition and supporting documents, along with his initial pleading. See Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1m)(b). The court then reviews the documents and determines whether the prisoner is entitled to commence the action without prepayment of the filing fee. See Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1m)(c), (d). At this first stage, "the court does not evaluate the substantive merits of the prisoner's claim but only examines the submissions to determine if the prisoner has submitted all required documentation." State ex rel. Adell v. Smith, 2001 WI App 168, ¶ 4 n.3, 247 Wis. 2d 260, 633 N.W.2d 231.

Case 2022AP001076 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-20-2023 Page 21 of 29

If the court grants the fee waiver, *then* the clerk files the case. See Wis. Stat. § 59.40(3)(a) ("The clerk may refuse to accept any paper for filing or recording until the fee prescribed in subch. II of ch. 814 or any applicable statute is paid."); Shimkus I, 239 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 9.

The second step occurs after the case is filed, either because the filing fee was paid or a waiver was granted. *Adell*, 247 Wis. 2d 260, ¶ 4 n.3. At this second step, the court must review the prisoner's pleadings and may dismiss the case without requiring a responsive pleading. *See* Wis. Stat. § 802.05(4). It is then that the court considers whether the prisoner's certiorari action was timely filed under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). If the court dismisses the action, the prisoner is still responsible for paying the balance of the filing fee, if a fee waiver was granted. *See* Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1m)(e), (3)(b).

That is precisely the process that was followed here. Mitchell mailed his certiorari petition, a request for fee waiver, and some of the required documents on April 26, 2022. (R. 2–5; 6:1–10; 8:2; 22:2; Appellant's Br. 12–13.) On April 29, 2022, a prisoner litigation staff attorney from the clerk's office sent Mitchell a letter notifying him, as a courtesy, that his submission was received but had not been filed because it did not include all documents required by law. (R. 22:5.) Mitchell then submitted the missing documents to the court in two separate mailings on May 5 and 10, 2022. (R. 6:11–29; 9; 22:2.)

On May 17, 2022, the circuit court reviewed the documents Mitchell submitted over the course of the previous two weeks. (R. 1:1.) The court found that Mitchell had, by that time, submitted all required documents, exhausted available administrative remedies, and had not accumulated three or more dismissals under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(d). (R. 1.) The court then granted Mitchell's petition for a fee waiver and allowed the case to be filed that same day. (R. 1; 6.)

Three days later, on May 20, 2022, the court conducted its initial review of the case pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 802.05(4). (R. 16.) The court dismissed the case, without requiring a responsive pleading, because Mitchell failed to commence the case within the 45-day statute of limitations in Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). (R. 16.) The court further ordered that the dismissal did not relieve Mitchell of his obligation to pay the filing fee. (R. 16:2.)

This statutory filing procedure did not permit the clerk to file Mitchell's certiorari action upon receipt of his April 26, 2022, mailing. At that time, Mitchell had not paid the filing fee, nor had he been granted a fee waiver, as required to commence the action. The clerk, therefore, had no authority to file Mitchell's case.

Even if the clerk had filed the case immediately, that would not have saved Mitchell's case from dismissal. The act of filing cannot cure defects in a prisoner's submission. Tyler, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 14. Whether a prisoner certiorari action is filed immediately because the prisoner paid the fee, or later after the court grants a fee waiver, the court still must review the case and determine if it was timely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). That determination requires application of the various tolling rules to the facts of the case. Here, the court was required to assess whether Mitchell was entitled to tolling from the date of his initial mailing on April 26, 2022, until the date of filing. Mitchell was not entitled to tolling during that time because his initial submission was incomplete, and the missing documents were not received until after the statutory deadline. Filing the case immediately could not have cured that defect.

\* \* \* \*

Mitchell was not entitled to tolling from the time he mailed his petition on April 26, 2022, until the case was filed. His initial mailing was missing required documents over

which he had control, and he did not request documents over which he had no control until just days before the statutory deadline. The clerk of court had no authority to file Mitchell's case upon receipt of his initial mailing, and the act of filing would not have cured the defects in that mailing anyway. The circuit court properly concluded that Mitchell's certiorari action was untimely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2), and this Court should affirm that decision.

### II. Dismissal of Mitchell's certiorari action was the appropriate remedy for his untimely filing.

Mitchell argues that even if his certiorari action was untimely, dismissal was not the proper remedy. He contends that the only appropriate penalty for his failure to submit the required exhaustion documents was denial of his fee waiver request, not dismissal of his certiorari action. (Appellant's Br. 23–24.) Mitchell further argues any such omission was harmless error because he had in fact exhausted his administrative remedies. (*Id.* at 24.) Neither argument has merit.

# A. Dismissal is the appropriate remedy when failure to submit exhaustion documents results in an untimely filing.

Mitchell argues that the only appropriate penalty for his failure to submit the required exhaustion documents was denial of his fee waiver request, not dismissal of his certiorari action. (*Id.* at 23–24.) While the absence of any of the exhaustion documents listed in Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) may lead to rejection of the petition for a fee waiver, a failure to *timely* file those documents may also result in dismissal of the action entirely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735. That is what happened here.

This argument requires interpretation of the relevant statutes. "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context Case 2022AP001076 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-20-2023 Page 24 of 29

in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

In reading the statutes, Mitchell focuses on the last sentence of the paragraph requiring proof of exhaustion, Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c): "The court shall deny a prisoner's request to proceed without the prepayment of fees and costs under s. 814.29(1m) if the prisoner fails to comply with this paragraph or if the prisoner has failed to exhaust all available administrative remedies." Read in context and reasonably, that language does not prescribe the only available remedy.

Context is important. Under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), prisoners are required to submit proof of exhaustion of administrative remedies whether they seek a fee waiver or not. In other words, if a prisoner pays the filing fee, proof of exhaustion is the *only* documentation he is required to submit with his petition. All other documentation—like the three-strikes certification and trust account statement—is required only if the prisoner seeks a fee waiver. See Wis. Stat. §§ 801.02(7)(d), 814.29(1m).

The statutes requiring certain documents for a fee waiver request do not explicitly state that denial of the request is the penalty for failure to provide those documents. See Wis. Stat. §§ 801.02(7)(d), 814.29(1m). That penalty is axiomatic. Not so for exhaustion documents. Because proof of exhaustion is required whether the prisoner seeks a fee waiver or not, Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) explicitly states that denial of the fee waiver request is an appropriate penalty. But that is not the only action the court can take. If it were, there would be no remedy when a prisoner who pays the filing fee fails to submit proof of exhaustion. That would be unreasonable. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46.

The only reasonable interpretation of the relevant statutes is that when a prisoner fails to submit proof of exhaustion, a court can deny the prisoner's fee waiver request and require full payment of the filing fee before the case is filed. See Wis. Stat. §§ 801.02(7)(c), 814.29(1m). Then, once the case is filed, the court reviews the initial pleading, as required by Wis. Stat. § 802.05(4), and may dismiss the case for several reasons, including failure to timely commence the action under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2).

Mitchell argues that his reading of the statute is "supported by comparing the alternate remedies authorized by Wis. Stats. §§ 801.02(7)(c) and 801.02(7)(d)." (Appellant's Br. 24–25.) Wisconsin Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) mandates denial of the prisoner's fee waiver request when he fails to include proof of exhaustion with his initial pleading, whereas subsection (7)(d) mandates dismissal of the case when a prisoner seeking a fee waiver has three strikes. Mitchell argues that this is proof that the Legislature intended denial of the fee waiver request to be the exclusive remedy for failing to submit proof of exhaustion. (Appellant's Br. 25.) That is incorrect.

Wisconsin Stat. § 801.02(7)(d) explicitly mandates dismissal when a prisoner *has* three-strikes; it says nothing about the penalty when a prisoner fails to submit three-strikes *documentation*. Denial of the fee waiver request is the obvious remedy. But, as with subsection (7)(c), that is not the only remedy. The court can still dismiss the case if the prisoner's omission of required documents results in an untimely filing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2).

That is what happened here. The Court first determined whether Mitchell was entitled to a fee waiver. (R. 1.) By that time, Mitchell had submitted all the required documentation for the court to make that assessment, including documentary proof of administrative exhaustion. (R. 1:1.) If the required exhaustion documents, or other documents, had not been submitted by that time, the court

could have denied the fee waiver petition and required full payment of the filing fee. (R. 1:1.)

After the court granted the fee waiver and allowed the case to be filed, it conducted its initial review of the action as required by Wis. Stat. § 802.05(4). (R. 16.) *That* was the appropriate time for the court to assess timeliness and other defects in the pleadings. After reviewing the case, the court concluded it was untimely pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2) and dismissed it without requiring a responsive pleading. (R. 16.) The court further ordered that, despite the dismissal, Mitchell was still responsible for paying the remainder of the filing fee. (R. 16:2.)

Under the relevant statutes, dismissal is an appropriate remedy when a prisoner fails to *timely* submit the required documents, including proof of exhaustion. That conclusion is further supported by case law. In *Tyler*, for example, this Court affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of Tyler's certiorari action as untimely when Tyler failed to submit proof of exhaustion with his initial submission and, therefore, was not entitled to tolling. *Tyler*, 257 Wis. 2d 606,  $\P\P$  15, 21.

Just as dismissal was the appropriate remedy in *Tyler*, so too was it the appropriate remedy here. The circuit court's dismissal of Mitchell's certiorari action as untimely should be affirmed.

## B. Failure to timely file a certiorari action is not subject to harmless error analysis.

Mitchell argues that his failure to timely file his certiorari action should be disregarded under the harmless error statute, Wis. Stat. § 805.18(1). (Appellant's Br. 26–28.) He explains that his "initial omission of certain exhaustion documents [wa]s harmless because [he] *in fact* exhausted all administrative remedies before filing his petition for writ of certiorari." (*Id.* at 26.) That argument is easily disposed of.

Case 2022AP001076 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-20-2023 Page 27 of 29

Mitchell's untimely filing is not subject to harmless error analysis. Failure to timely file a petition for writ of certiorari deprives the circuit court of competency to hear the petition. See Wis. Power & Light Co. v. PSC, 2006 WI App 221, ¶ 11, 296 Wis. 2d 705, 725 N.W.2d 423 (failure to comply with statutory time limit resulted in loss of circuit court's competency to proceed). Such a defect is not subject to harmless error analysis. See Jefferson Cnty. v. Joseph S., 2010 WI App 160, ¶ 15, 330 Wis. 2d 737, 795 N.W.2d 450 (error not harmless when it deprived the court of competency).

Harmless error analysis does not apply, but even if it did Mitchell's argument is simply another version of his argument that his omission of exhaustion documents was "inconsequential," which Respondent addressed in section I.B.1., supra at 14-17. If Mitchell could evade the statutory filing requirements because he "in fact exhausted all administrative remedies" (Appellant's Br. 26), section 893.735(2)'s time limit and section 801.02(7)(c)'s requirement that prisoners submit documentary proof of exhaustion "[a]t the time of filing the initial pleading" would be meaningless. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). And Mitchell completely ignores the fact that his petition was untimely not only because he failed to timely submit certain exhaustion documents, but also because he failed to timely submit his trust account statement. Mitchell's multiple errors resulted in an untimely filing under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). The circuit court properly dismissed Mitchell's certiorari action, and this Court should affirm.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision dismissing the petition for writ of certiorari.